Appres. PILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUN 16 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

SOUTHWEST FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT, an agency of the state of Florida,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 81,712

DUANE and LINDA NANZ, NEAL and JODY BEDFORD, WARREN and ALICE WILSON and RUSSELL and GALE MURPHREE,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Second District State of Florida

DAVID R. REED
MATTSON, McGRADY & TODD, P. A.
PO Box 14373
St. Petersburg, FL 33733
813-345-3203
Florida Bar No. 182579
Florida Bar No. 0794570

RICK TSCHANTZ
SOUTHWEST FLORIDA WATER
MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
2379 Broad St.
Brooksville, FL 34609-6899

STATEMENT OF CERTIFIED QUESTION ON APPEAL

DOES SECTION 373.443, FLORIDA STATUES (1989), IMMUNIZE A WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT FROM NEGLIGENCE IN THE EXECUTION OF ITS OPERATINAL LEVEL ACTIVITIES OR ARE SUCH ACTIVITIES AND SUBSEQUENT LIABILITY GOVERNED BY THE RELEVANT PROVISIONS OF SECTION 768.28, FLORIDA STATUTES, (1989)?

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This Brief on the Merits is respectfully submitted by the petitioner, SOUTHWEST FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT, pursuant to this Court's order dated May 18, 1993. In this brief the parties will be referred to by their names as set forth below in the Statement of the Case and Facts, and by the positions they occupy before this Court. Any references to the record on appeal will be identified by the symbol "R." followed by the page number of the record on appeal before the District Court of Appeal, Second District of Florida.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Defendant/petitioner, SOUTHWEST FLORIDA WATER MANAGE-MENT DISTRICT (hereinafter "SWFWMD"), seeks to have reviewed a decision of the Second District Court of Appeal, dated March 31, 1993, on the grounds that the decision of the District Court of Appeal passed upon a question of great public importance.

The petitioner was the original defendant before the trial court and was the appellee before the District Court of Appeal. The respondents, DUANE and LINDA NANZ, NEAL and JODY BEDFORD, WARREN and ALICE WILSON, and RUSSELL and GALE MURPHREE, (hereinafter collectively "NANZ"), were the original plaintiffs before the trial court and were the appellants before the District Court of Appeal.

The case <u>sub judice</u> arises out of rainfalls of historic magnitude which began on September 7, 1988, and lasted through September 13, 1988. As a result, the respondents filed their complaint against SWFWMD alleging that their properties were flooded during and following the rainfall, due to the negligence of SWFWMD in the installation, operation, control and maintenance of natural bodies of water consisting of Baker Creek, Pemberton Creek and Lake Thonotosassa, including failure to properly maintain, operate and open flood gates and/or locks.

In response to NANZ's complaint, SWFWMD filed a motion to dismiss, contending that it was immune from liability to the respondents, pursuant to Section 373.443, Florida Statutes (1987), which expressly stated:

IMMUNITY FROM LIABILITY. -- No action shall be brought against the State or district, or any agents or employees of the State or district, for the recovery of damages caused by the partial or total failure of any dam, impoundment, reservoir, appurtenant work, or works upon the ground that the State or district is liable by virtue of any of the following:

- (1) Approval of the permit for construction or alteration.
- (2) The issuance or enforcement of any order relative to maintenance or operation.
- (3) Control or regulation of dams, impoundments, reservoirs, appurtenant work, or works regulated under this chapter.
- (4) Measures taken to protect against failure during emergency.

The appeal to the District Court of Appeal by the respondents was from an order of the Circuit Court of Hillsborough County dismissing the respondents' complaint with prejudice.

In this case of first impression, the District Court of Appeal, Second District, reversed and remanded the decision of

District, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D884 (Fla. 2d DCA March 31, 1993) In its opinion, the District Court of Appeal interpreted that "the immunity granted the water management districts under Section 373.443 appears to be related to the planning functions of SWFWMD as opposed to its operational activities." Id. at D885. Based on its interpretation of Section 373.443 and the allegations of the complaint, the District Court of Appeal concluded that the liability of SWFWMD was subject to traditional tort analysis under Section 768.28, Florida Statutes. Id.

On SWFWMD's suggestion for certification, the District Court of Appeal certified the following question to this Court as one of great public importance:

DOES SECTION 373.443, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), IMMUNIZE A WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT FROM NEGLIGENCE IN THE EXECUTION OF ITS OPERATIONAL LEVEL ACTIVITIES OR ARE SUCH ACTIVITIES AND SUBSEQUENT LIABILITY GOVERNED BY THE RELEVANT PROVISIONS OF SECTION 768.28, FLORIDA STATUTES, (1989)?

Although the District Court expressly referred to §373.443 (1989) in the certified question to this Court, SWFWMD would clarify that §373.443 (1987) controlled at the time of the flood giving rise to the subject litigation. SWFWMD would further clarify that any other reference to §373.443 (1989) in this initial brief on the merits is solely for purposes of statutory construction and interpretation.

Upon the order of this Court dated May 18, 1993, petitioner, SWFWMD, files and serves this Brief on the Merits.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In the case <u>sub judice</u>, the gravaman of the respondents' Complaint against SWFWMD is that the water management district negligently failed to open certain floodgates and/or locks in sufficient time to prevent flooding of respondents' property during the severe rainstorm of September 7, 1988 through September 13, 1988. On the basis of these allegations, the trial court correctly dismissed the Complaint with prejudice, determining that SWFWMD was immune from liability pursuant to Fla. Stat. \$373.443 (1987). Section 373.443 expressly provided:

IMMUNITY FROM LIABILITY. -- No action shall be brought against the state or district, or any agents or employees of the state or district, for the recovery of damages caused by the partial or total failure of any dam, impoundment, reservoir, appurtenant work, or works upon the ground that the state or district is liable by virtue of any of the following:

- (1) Approval of the permit for construction or alteration.
- (2) The issuance or enforcement of any order relative to maintenance or operation.
- (3) Control or regulation of dams, impoundments, reservoirs, appurtenant work, or works regulated under this chapter.
- (4) Measures taken to protect against failure during emergency.

On appeal, the District Court improperly reversed the decision of the trial court, concluding that the grant of immunity to water management districts under §373.443 was limited to "planning functions." While it is well settled that a "planning function/operational function" analysis is appropriate to determine the scope of the waiver of sovereign immunity, under Fla. Stat. §768.28 (1989), this same analysis is inappropriate to

determine the scope of the grant of immunity to the water management districts under §373.443.

Under well established rules of statory construction and interpretation, it is clear that §373.443 controls in the First and foremost, the legislature was clear and instant case. unambiguous in its intent that water management districts remain free from liability for their management and control of surface The legislature strongly reaffirmed this intention in 1989 when it extended the scope of immunity granted under In addressing this exact issue, the federal district courts, federal courts of appeal and the United States Supreme Court have all held that the enactment of the Federal Tort Claims Act (waiving immunity) had no effect whatsoever on a previously enacted grant of immunity under the Federal Flood Control Act. Additionally, any perceived conflict between §768.28 and §373.443 must be resolved in favor of §373.443, as it is the more narrowly drawn statute.

Finally, the District Court's interpretation of §373.443 improperly narrowed a clear and unambiguous statute. In so doing, the Court ignored the legislative mandates set forth in §\$373.616--373.6161 that the provisions of the Florida Water Resources Act be liberally construed, and the judicial mandate that any waiver of sovereign immunity be strictly construed.

Respondents' Complaint against SWFWMD is precisely that type of case from which the legislature intended the state and water management districts remain immune. Floods and property

damage from flood waters are a peril of life in Florida. As such, the state has undertaken, as only the state can, to provide water management and flood control works for the general welfare of its citizens. Clearly, the enormous commitment of resources for the management and control of surface waters requires the state to limit its exposure to liability.

Point One

SECTION 373.443, FLORIDA STATUTES (1987), PROVIDES IMMUNITY TO FLORIDA'S WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICTS WITH RESPECT TO THEIR MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF SURFACE WATERS.

In 1972, the Florida legislature enacted the Florida Water Resources Act. 1972 Fla. Laws ch. 299; Fla. Stat. \$\\$373.012--373.619 (1987). Declaring that the waters of the state of Florida are among its basic resources, the legislature passed this act, in part, to:

- provide for the management and control of the state's water;
- develop and regulate dams, impoundments, reservoirs, and other works;
- prevent damage from floods and excessive drainage;
- promote the health, safety and general welfare of the people of Florida . . .

Fla. Stat. §373.016(1), (2)(a), (c), (d), (h) (1987).

Significantly, the legislature expressly provided for an immunity from liability to the State and water management districts, as follows:

IMMUNITY FROM LIABILITY. -- No action shall be brought against the state or district, or any agents or employees of the state or district, for the recovery of damages caused by the partial or total failure of any dam, impoundment, reservoir, appurtenant work, or works upon the ground that the state or district is liable by virtue of any of the following:

- (1) Approval of the permit for construction or alteration.
- (2) The issuance or enforcement of any order relative to maintenance or operation.
- (3) Control or regulation of dams, impoundments, reservoirs, appurtenant work, or works regulated under this chapter.

(4) Measures taken to protect against failure during emergency.

Fla. Stat. §373.443 (1987).

However, in the case <u>sub judice</u>, the District Court of Appeal concluded that any interpretation of §373.443 which allows SWFWMD "complete tort immunity" would conflict with §768.28, Florida Statutes (1989). Section 768.28 was passed by the Florida legislature in 1973 (one year subsequent to the passage of §373.443) as a limited waiver of sovereign immunity in tort actions against the State, its subdivisions and agencies. 1973 Fla. Laws ch. 313; Fla. Stat. §768.28 (1989).

Although the waiver of sovereign immunity under §768.28 is specifically limited to the extent provided in the Statute, it does provide for the recovery of damages in tort, for loss of property caused by negligent or wrongful acts or omissions of any employee of the agency or subdivision. Id. Thus, there appears to be a conflict between §373.443 (granting immunity) and §768.28 (waiving immunity) with respect to the liability in tort of a water management district for property damage caused by its acts or omissions. Any apparent conflict, however, is illusory.

a. The legislature intended that water management districts remain immune from liability for the management and control of surface waters, in spite of the subsequent enactment of §768.28.

The paramount rule of statutory construction is that legislative intent is the "polestar" by which statutes are to be

construed. Parker v. State, 406 So. 2d 1089, 1092 (Fla. 1982);

State v. Webb, 398 So. 2d 820, 824 (Fla. 1981); DeBolt v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 427 So. 2d 221, 224 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). In analyzing legislative intent, it is often necessary to analyze not only the intent expressed in a statute, but also the history of the statute, as well as committee reports and other congressional indicia of legislative intent.

The history of Chapter 373, Fla. Stat., reveals that this Chapter was substantially derived from "A Model Water Code." Frank E. Maloney et al., A Model Water Code (1972) [hereinafter Model Water Code]; see 1972 Fla. Laws ch. 299. Significantly, §4.13 of the Model Water Code contains virtually identical language to §373.443, Fla. Stat. Of further significance is the interpretive commentary to §4.13 of the Model Water Code which states:

COMMENTARY. Section 4.13 indicates that the state or the water management district assumes no tort liability in carrying out the provisions of this chapter.

Model Water Code at §4.13.

As stated above, the policy of the Florida legislature, by enacting the Florida Water Resources Act, was in part to prevent floods and excessive drainage. Fla. Stat. §373.016(2)(d) (1987). In the case <u>sub judice</u>, the gravamen of the respondents' complaint is that SWFWMD negligently failed to open certain flood gates and/or locks in sufficient time to provide drainage for the respondents' lands, thereby causing flood damage during the

severe rainstorm event of September 7, 1988 through September 13, 1988.

As indicated by the Model Water Code, the purpose of §373.443 is "that the state or water management districts assume no liability in carrying out the provisions of this chapter."

Model Water Code at §413. It is the position of SWFWMD that the purpose of the immunity under §373.443 is a "good Samaritan" rationale, whereby the government agreed to act in the capacity of providing flood relief, on the proviso that it would not be exposed to the tremendous potential liability which might ensue in the event of flood damages caused by negligent control or a structural failure.

Moreover, analysis of the legislative intent concerning any continued immunity provided in §373.443 following the subsequent enactment of §768.28 is simplified by the 1989 amendments to §373.443. In 1989, the Florida legislature expressly extended the immunity granted to the water management districts by adding "storm water management systems" to the list of systems whose management and control are immune from liability. 1989 Fla. Laws ch. 279; Fla. Stat. §373.443 (1989). By extending the scope of immunity in 1989, the legislature made clear its intention that §373.443 retain its full force and effect following the enactment of §768.28.

In addition to the foregoing, there is a presumption of sovereign immunity absent an express waiver by the legislature.

Pan-Am Tobacco Corp. v. Department of Corrections, 471 So. 2d 4,

5 (Fla. 1984). Thus, it follows that in its codification of the water management districts' immunity from liability under §373.443 prior to the enactment of §768.28, the legislature was unequivocal in its intent that these entities remain free from liability for damages resulting from their:

- Control or regulation of dams, impoundments, reservoirs, appurtenant work or works.
- Measures taken to protect against failure during an emergency.

Fla. Stat. §373.443(3), (4) (1987).

Despite §768.28, §373.443 demonstrates that sovereign immunity remains the rule in Florida, rather than the exception.

Pan-Am Tobacco Corp., 471 So. 2d at 5. By its very terms,

§373.443 defines and dictates the circumstances in which the state's water management districts are immune from tort. Simply put, §373.443 governs, and liability does not attach as a result of a water management district's control or regulation of surface waters, or as a result of measures taken to protect against failure in an emergency. Therefore, use of the traditional tort analysis under §768.28 is inapplicable to those situations falling within the ambit of §373.443.

b. Where Florida and federal statutes are substantially similar, and the Florida statute was enacted after the federal statute, construction of the federal law by the federal courts is persuasive in construing §373.443.

In <u>Brown v. State</u>, 426 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), the court stated:

It is well-settled that if a state statute is patterned after the language of its federal counterpart, the statute will take the same construction in Florida courts as its prototype has been given insofar as such construction comports with the spirit and policy of the Florida law relating to the same subject.

Id. at 88, n. 19; Accord, City of Orlando v. Florida Public Employees Relations Comm'n, 435 So. 2d 275 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983),
(citing, International Brotherhood of Painters v. Anderson, 401
So. 2d 824 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981)).

Section 373.443, Fla. Stat., is similar in purpose to the immunity provided federal government by the United States Flood Control Act of 1928, which states in pertinent part that:

. . . No liability of any kind shall attach to or rest upon the United States for any damage from or by floods or flood waters at any place . . .

33 U.S.C. §702(c) (1970).

This section has been construed to provide the federal government with immunity from liability for flood damages resulting from the operation of federally constructed flood control projects, regardless of whether negligence is alleged or proven. See Florida East Coast Railway Co. v. United States, 519 F. 2d 1184 (5th Cir. 1975); Peterson v. United States, 367 F. 2d 271 (9th Cir. 1966); National Manufacturing Co. v. United States, 210 F. 2d 263 (8th Cir. 1954), cert denied, 347 U.S. 967; Clark v. United States, 218 F. 2d 446 (9th Cir. 1954).

The rationale for federal government maintaining immunity with regard to flood control activities is aptly stated in National Manufacturing, the leading case in this area, as follows:

Thus it appears on inspection of the two flood control acts referred to that when Congress entered upon flood control on the great scale contemplated by the acts it safeguarded the United States against liability of any kind for damages from or by floods or flood waters in the broadest and most emphatic language. The cost of the flood control works itself would inevitably be very great and Congress plainly manifested its will that those costs should not have the flood damages that will inevitably recur added to them. Undoubtedly floods which have traditionally been deemed "acts of God" wreak the greatest property destruction of all natural catastrophies and where floods occur after flood control work has been done and relied on the damages are vastly increased. there is no question of the power and right of Congress to keep the government entirely free from liability when the flood occurs, notwithstanding the great government works undertaken to minimize them. . . .

Undoubtedly that absolute freedom of the government from liability for flood damages is and has been a factor of the greatest importance in the extent to which Congress has been and is willing to make appropriations for flood control and to engage in costly undertaking to reduce flood damages. . . .

Heretofore the great contribution of the United States to the struggle that has continued for generations and will long continue, to conquer floods, has been made on the basis of federal non-liability for flood damages. That has been the condition of the government's contribution. (Emphasis added)

210 F. 2d at 270, 271.

In <u>National Manufacturing</u>, it is significant to note that the case involved allegations of negligence for alleged failure to warn of impending flood conditions. Applying its "good Samaritan" rationale, the court found that immunity was applicable. Likewise, this same "good Samaritan" rationale was accepted in <u>Florida East Coast Railway Co.</u>, <u>Clark</u> and <u>Peterson</u>, supra.

Although the interaction between the immunity granted to the state and water management districts under §373.443 and the waiver of immunity under §768.28 is an issue of first impression before this Court, federal courts, including the United States Supreme Court, have also had the opportunity to address substantially the same issue.

As previously set forth herein, §702(c) of the United States Flood Control Act is similar in purpose to §373.443, Fla. Stat. (1987). Subsequent to the enactment of §702(c), Congress passed the Federal Tort Claims Act which, like Florida Statute §768.28, constituted a limited waiver of the federal government's sovereign immunity. 28 U.S.C. §2671 (1965). See United States v. James, 106 S. Ct. 3116 (1986); Florida East Coast Railway Co. v. United States, 519 F. 2d 1184 (5th Cir. 1975); Commercial Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County, 371 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 1979).

In Florida East Coast Railway Co. v. United States, 519

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