H SID J. WHITE JUL 6 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By-

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Chief Deputy Clerk

SOUTHWEST FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT, an agency of the state of Florida,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 81,712

DUANE and LINDA NANZ, NEAL and JODY BEDFORD, WARREN and ALICE WILSON and RUSSELL and GALE MURPHREE,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Second District State of Florida

> BARRETT & BARRETT TED A. BARRETT, ESQUIRE ALICEN M. BARRETT, ESQUIRE 499 Patricia Avenue, Suite C Dunedin, Florida 34698 (813) 733-5012 FBN: 802700/802697

Attorneys for Respondents

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 373.443, Fla. Stat. (1987) provides:

Immunity From Liability. -- No action shall be brought against the state or district, or any agents or employees of the state or district, for the recovery of damages caused by the partial or total failure of any dam, impoundment, reservoir, appurtenant work, or works upon the ground that the state or district is liable by virtue of any of the following:

(1) Approval of the permit for construction or alteration.

(2) The issuance or enforcement of any order relative to maintenance or operation.

(3) Control or regulation of dams, impoundments, reservoirs, appurtenant work, or works regulated under this chapter.

(4) Measures taken to protect against failure during emergency.

F.S. 373.443, set out in its entirety above, is contained in Part IV of Chapter 373 of the Florida Statutes (The "Florida Water Resources Act of 1972"). The Florida Water Resources Act of 1972 is patterned after "A Model Water Code". The purposes and reasons behind the drafting of A Model Water Code, and therefore the legislative intent behind the drafting and enactment of Chapter 373, was to establish a statewide, comprehensive program for the regulation and management of all Florida water resources by a centralized agency (the DER) which could delegate considerable powers to the water management districts under it. Chapter 373, including Part IV of same (of which F.S. 373.443 is a part), provides for an extensive system of granting permits and promulgating rules and regulations. This was the intent of the legislature when it enacted Chapter 373.

F.S. 373.443, enacted as part of this vast regulatory scheme, was not written to grant unlimited immunity to the DER or its water management districts, but was drafted instead to grant these

governmental entities limited immunity from liability "if the permits they grant, the regulations they promulgate, or the control they exercise by reason of their permits, regulations, and orders lead to injuries." <u>Nanz, et. al.</u> v. <u>Southwest Florida Water</u> <u>Management District, et. al.</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D884, 885 (1993).

Petitioner and amici argue that this Court must look to the relationship between 33 U.S.C. Section 702(c) (1970) (hereinafter Section 702(c)) and the Federal Tort Claims Act to assist it in analyzing the relationship of F.S. 373.433 and F.S. 768.28. However, F.S. 373.443 is not "patterned after" Section 702(c); it is patterned after Section 4.13 of A Model Water Code, as petitioner and amici concede. Additionally, Section 702(c) is not "the federal counterpart" of F.S. 373.443, nor does it contain language that is nearly identical to the state statute. Moreover, the purpose of the Federal Flood Control Act, of which Section 702(c) is a part, differs substantially from the purpose and legislative intent behind the enactment of the Florida Water Resources Act of 1972. Case law interpreting the broad, all encompassing language of Section 702(c) is not of assistance to this Court in interpreting F.S. 373.443, which limits immunity from liability to four carefully delineated circumstances.

The meaning of F.S. 373.443 is clear on its face, and this Court need not resort to the myriad rules of statutory construction cited by petitioner and amici in analyzing F.S. 373.443. F.S. 373.443, as drafted and as viewed <u>in pari materia</u> with the rest of Chapter 373 and in light of this Court's rulings in <u>Commercial</u>

<u>Carrier Corp.</u> and <u>Trianon Park Condominium</u>, clearly and unquestionably indicates that the water management districts of this state are immune from liability for certain limited acts and omissions which are now known to be planning activities.

Petitioner and amici argue that the District Court improperly narrowed the scope and operation of F.S. 373.443 by improperly interpreting the word "control". They argue that unless the word "control" is defined to include operational level activities, F.S. 373.443 has no meaning, because the government was already immune from liability for decisional level activities in 1972 without resort to F.S. 373.443.

This argument assumes, incorrectly, that the law of governmental immunity was eminently clear in 1972 when F.S. 373.443 was enacted. To the contrary, Florida law with regard to sovereign immunity was in turmoil in 1972. Under the holding in <u>Modlin</u>, and in the absence of F.S. 373.443, a state Court might have ruled that a governmental entity was liable if a permit was negligently granted or an order negligently enforced and the party who was negligent owed a special duty to the injured party.

F.S. 373.443 was not enacted to give the DER and the water management districts under it total immunity from tort. The plain and ordinary language of the statute clearly shows that although the DER and its water management districts are immune from liability for certain planning level activities, this grant of immunity does not extend to and include operational level acts and omissions such as those which are at issue in this case.

STATEMENT OF CERTIFIED QUESTION ON APPEAL

DOES SECTION 373.443, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), IMMUNIZE A WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT FROM NEGLIGENCE IN THE EXECUTION OF ITS OPERATIONAL LEVEL ACTIVITIES OR ARE SUCH ACTIVITIES AND SUBSEQUENT LIABILITY GOVERNED BY THE RELEVANT PROVISIONS OF SECTION 768.28, FLORIDA STATUTES, (1989)?

ARGUMENT I

THE LEGISLATURE, BY ENACTING FLORIDA STATUTE 373.443, DID NOT INTEND THAT A WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT SHOULD BE IMMUNE FROM ALL LIABILITY.

Petitioners are correct when they assert that legislative intent is the pole star by which the Court must be guided in interpreting the provisions of a law. <u>DeBolt v. Dept. of Health &</u> <u>Rehab. Services</u>, 427 So.2d 221, 224 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). Petitioners are also correct in their assertion that Chapter 373 of the Florida Statutes (the "Florida Water Resources Act of 1972") is patterned after "A Model Water Code". Maloney, F., et al., A Model Water Code (Univ. of Fla. Press, 1972) (hereinafter "A Model Water Code" or "Model Water Code"). It follows, then, that a study of the purposes and reasons behind the drafting of A Model Water Code will shed light on the legislative intent behind the drafting and enactment of Chapter 373.

In 1972, when A Model Water Code was drafted by Frank E. Maloney, Professor of Law and former Dean at the University of Florida, together with others, the State of Florida did not have a comprehensive statewide program for water resource management. Various legislative enactments throughout the years prior to 1972 had led to a fairly scattered patchwork of single purpose and multipurpose "drainage districts", "flood control districts", and various other 'water districts'. There was sometimes an unclear division of authority as between the hodge podge districts and their various subdistricts. See Maloney, F., et al., Water Law and

Administration - The Florida Experience (Univ. of Florida Press, 1968) at p. 299.

Actually, the first "multipurpose" water district created in Florida was created in 1949 and named the "Central and Southern Florida Flood Control District". This water management district (hereinafter sometimes WMD) was the predecessor to South Florida Water Management District (hereinafter sometimes SFWMD), an amicus curiae in this case.

In 1961 another large-scale multipurpose water management district was created in Florida. This district was called the Southwest Florida Water Management District, a name which explicitly shows the multipurpose function. "The words 'flood control'. . . [were] omitted to point up the basic philosophy of comprehensive water management for all legitimate purposes." Water Law and Administration - The Florida Experience, p. 311 [cite, which is contained in a footnote, omitted].

In the minds of legislators and commentators, including Professor Maloney, these earlier multipurpose districts did not go far enough in establishing a statewide, comprehensive program for regulation and management of all Florida waters. Studies at the University of Florida continued under the direction of Professor Maloney, and in 1972 he and several co-authors drafted A Model Water Code with these basic requirements in mind for a proper state program: centralized water resources planning planning responsibility, planning on a scientific basis, coordination of water quality and consumptive use planning, and regulation of consumptive uses as a planning tool. See Commentary to A Model Water Code at page 69.

Florida, formerly a common law riparian state, adopted comprehensive legislation in 1972 for water use and

management. The Water Resources Act of 1972, which is codified at Chapter 373 of the Florida Statutes, is based on F. Maloney, R. Ausness and J. Morris, A Model Water Code, and provides for a two-tier administrative structure. The Department of Natural Resources (DNR) was given responsibility originally for administration of the Act at the state level with day-to-day management functions carried out by five regional water management districts.

Ć,

* * *

Chapter 373, Florida Statutes, assigned the water management districts and the Department of Environmental Regulation [DER took over the DNR's water management authority in 1975] certain independent powers and authorities, but also required DER to delegate its water resource programs to the water management districts to the maximum extent possible. DER has proceeded to delegate consumptive use permitting (FLA. STAT. ch. 373, pt. II), and permitting for management and storage of surface waters (FLA. STAT. ch. 373, pt. IV) to all the water management districts. In addition, DER has STATE. delegated stormwater management (FLA. Sec. 373.103(8)) and regulation of dredging and filling of isolated wetlands (FLA. STAT. Sec. 373.414) to all the districts except Northwest Florida. DER has also delegated broad powers to the districts under FLA. STAT. Sec. 373.103(2) to (7), which include authority to cooperate with the federal government in flood control, reclamation, and conservation, to establish and regulate minimum flows and minimum water levels, and to cooperate with DER in preparation of the State Water Use Plan. Because each district has independent rule-making authority to implement these programs, rules and procedures vary from district to district. All rules formally promulgated by any district are published in Title 40 of the Florida Administrative Code.

Christie, Donna R., Florida [Water Rights] pp. 87-88, excerpted from Robert E. Beck, Editor-in-Chief, Waters and Water Rights (The Michie Company, 1991 Edition).

A Model Water Code, and therefore Chapter 373 of the Florida Statutes, were created to establish a comprehensive, statewide program for the permitting, regulation, and management of the state's water resources by a centralized agency (the DER) that could delegate considerable powers to the water management

districts under it. That both the Model Water Code and Chapter 373 established regulatory agencies with vast planning and rule-making powers is clear when one reads the following, which are just a few excerpts from a book co-authored by two of the major authors of A Model Water Code (Professor Maloney and Professor Ausness):

1. 1

The <u>permitting</u> system established by the Florida Water Resources Act of 1972 (FWRA) is the primary tool for implementing <u>the Act's regulatory policies</u>. The Act's use of <u>permitting as a regulatory device</u> is something of a novelty in Florida. Maloney, Frank E., et al., Florida Water Law (University of Florida Pub., 1980), p. 222 (emphasis added).

* * *

The Florida Water Resources Act provides for the <u>regulation</u> of consumptive uses of water in order to prevent harm to the water resources of an area and to assure that a use is compatible with the overall objectives of the particular district. An applicant for a consumptive use <u>permit</u> must establish the following before a <u>permit</u> may be granted . . . Florida Water Law, p. 224. (emphasis added).

The Code envisioned a mandatory <u>permit</u> system for which withdrawals of water for consumptive use, but the Florida Act merely authorizes such a system, rather than requiring it. Florida Water Law, p. 234. (emphasis added) * * *

[The South Florida Water Management District] requires <u>permits</u> for all uses, diversions, or withdrawals of water which exceed 100,000 gallons per day. <u>The governing board</u> <u>may impose any reasonable conditions upon permits</u> which are necessary 'for the conservation, protection, management, and control of the waters of the district . . .' Florida Water Law, p. 235. (emphasis added).

* * *

The <u>rules</u> [of South Florida Water Management District] also contain a provision for '<u>general permits</u>' for water use in conjunction with oil well drilling . . . Florida Water Law, p. 236. (emphasis added).

* * *

The SWFWMD [Southwest Florida Water Management District] has also implemented consumptive use <u>permitting</u>. Florida Water Law, p. 237. (emphasis added).

* * *

<u>Permits</u> are also required [for certain wells]. Florida Water Law, p. 238. (emphasis added).

* * *

At the present time, the SJRWMD [St. John's River Water Management District, the other amicus curiae in this case] issues consumptive use <u>permits</u> . . . <u>Any reasonable</u> <u>conditions necessary to conserve, protect, manage, or</u> <u>conduct the waters of the district will be imposed on the</u> <u>permit by the governing board</u>. Florida Water Law, pp. 240-241. (emphasis added).

* * *

Part IV of the Florida Water Resources Act of 1972 [of which F.S. 373.443 is a part] provides for the management and storage of surface waters within the state. <u>Regulation is achieved through a permit system</u> which applies to the construction or alteration of dams, impoundments, reservoirs and any appurtenant works. Florida Water Law, p. 260. (emphasis added) * * *

<u>Permits</u> are of two types: (1) those for construction or alteration of surface water 'works'; and (2) those for maintenance or operation of surface water 'works'. . . <u>Permits</u> for maintenance or operation of surface water 'works' are permanent and transferrable to new owners upon 30 days notice . . . Florida Water Law, p. 261. (emphasis added).

A thorough reading of Florida Water Law, by Frank E. Maloney, et al., A Model Water Code, by Frank E. Maloney, et al., and Chapter 373 of the Florida Statutes clearly indicates that Chapter 373, including Part IV of same (of which F.S. 373.443 is a part), provides for an extensive system of granting permits and promulgating rules and regulations. This was the intent of the legislature when it enacted Chapter 373.

Turning to Section 373.443, Fla. Stat. (1987) (hereinafter F.S. 373.443) in particular: F.S. 373.443, as petitioners contend, is based upon Section 4.13 of A Water Model Code, which in turn is based in substantial part upon a California statute, California Water Code Section 6028 (hereinafter Section 6028).(A:1)

Section 6028 is very similar to Florida Statute 373.443, with this major difference: Section 6028 provides that "no action shall

be brought against the state or the department or its agents or employees for the recovery of damages caused by the partial or total failure of any dam or reservoir or through the operation of any dam or reservoir upon the grounds that such defendant is liable by virtue of any of the following: . . . ". Section 6028. The California law would appear to make it clear that in California no action can be brought against the state or department of the state based upon its operation of any dam or reservoir. Despite the explicit language of California statute, however, California state agencies can in fact be held responsible for their negligence in the operation of a dam on a number of tort theories, including nuisance, dangerous and defective condition of the property (California Government Code, Section 835), statutory liability (California Government Code, Section 815.6), and a theory of vicarious liability when a government agent or employee is negligent while acting within the scope of his employment, (California Government Code, Section 815.2).(A:2) See also Nestle v. <u>City of Santa Monica</u>, 101 Cal.Rptr. 568, 581; 6 Cal.3d 920; 496 P.2d 480 (Cal. 1972) and Lattin v. Coachella Valley County Water District, 15 Cal.Rptr. 300 (Cal. 4th DCA 1961).

Petitioner and amici argue stridently that the commentary to Section 4.13 is controlling here, where it states that "Section 4.13 indicates that the state or the water management district assumes no tort liability in carrying out the provisions of this chapter." Commentary to Section 4.13, A Model Water Code, p. 237. In so doing, petitioner and amici emphasize the words <u>no tort</u>

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